1965

Western Contracting Corporation, An Iowa Corporation v. State Tax Commission : Plaintiff's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an original proceeding pursuant to Section 59-13-46 Utah Code Annotated 1953 for review of a decision of the State Tax Commission approving a deficiency assessment in plaintiff-taxpayer's corporation franchise tax for the calendar year 1962.

DISPOSITION BY STATE TAX COMMISSION

The Tax Commission, on the basis of a stipulation of facts, exhibits, and memoranda submitted by counsel for plaintiff and the Commission, approved a deficiency assessment as proposed by the Commission's auditing division. The effect of the approval was to apply a "segregated accounting method" in such a way that plaintiff's tax assessment was based upon a "constructive" income that greatly exceeded its total net income for the year in question.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the decision of the Tax Commission and remand of the case to the Commission with directions that it assess plaintiff's franchise tax in such a manner that (1) the taxable income will not exceed the net income, and (2) the assessment will not exceed an amount based upon allocation to Utah of "the proportion of net income fairly and equitably attributable to the state."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Western Contracting Corporation, plaintiff, is an Iowa corporation which, since its incorporation in 1917, has had its principal place of business in Sioux City, Iowa. It has been qualified to do business in Utah and has filed Utah tax returns since August 8, 1955.

In 1958, plaintiff commenced a stripping contract for Kennecott Copper Corporation in Bingham Canyon, Utah. A second stage of the stripping contract was commenced in 1960, and completed in 1961. Income from a third stage, commenced in 1961 and completed in 1962, is the subject of this proceeding.

During 1962, the company also engaged in major constructing activities such as bridge construction, dredging, and stripping in the states of Louisiana, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, California, Iowa, Wisconsin, and South Dakota.

In compliance with the provisions of subsection 4 of Regulation 8, Corporation Franchise Tax Act, issued by the State Tax Commission, and dealing with exceptions to the statutory method of allocation of net income, the plaintiff filed its Utah franchise tax return for calendar 1962 using the segregated accounting method, and allocated equivalent federal income taxes of \$905,-443.46 against the net income before federal income taxes allocated to Utah by this method (\$1,741,237.43), resulting in net income for Utah corporation franchise tax purposes of \$835,793.97. Plaintiff has regularly filed its federal income tax returns using the "completed contract" basis of accounting and has used the same method of accounting for filing its Utah state franchise tax returns. The auditing division has proposed an additional assessment of franchise taxes for calendar 1962 in the amount of \$32,913.39 plus interest, based primarily on the disallowance of a substantial portion of the claimed deduction for federal income taxes.

Plaintiff reported in 1962 net income before federal income taxes of \$555,088.31, and paid federal income taxes of \$183,215.11, resulting in total net income from operations in that year of \$371,873.20. The proposed assessment would create net income assignable to Utah of \$1,626,985.92. Details of the gross receipts, deductions, and elements of the allocation factors and specific allocation items set forth in the statutory formula are itemized in the Stipulation of Facts found on pages 9 through 15 of the Transcript of Record.

ARGUMENT

I

INCOME ALLOCATED TO UTAH FOR CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX PURPOSES MAY NOT EXCEED THE TOTAL NET INCOME OF THE CORPORATION.

Section 59-13-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953 provides for a corporation franchise tax as follows:

“ . . . equal to 4 per cent of its *net income* for the preceding taxable year computed and allocated to this state in the manner hereinafter provided, or 1/20 of 1 per cent of the fair value during the next preceding taxable year of its tangible property in this state, whichever is greater; but in no case shall the tax be less than \$10.” (Emphasis added.)

For corporations doing business in more than one state, 59-13-20 provides for the determination of net

income in the state of Utah for the purpose of establishing the basis for the imposition of the franchise tax.

“The portion of net income assignable to business done within this state, and which shall be the basis and measure of the tax imposed by this chapter, may be determined by an allocation upon the basis of the following rules: . . .”

After certain specific allocations of interest, dividends, and gains from the sale or exchange of capital assets, subsection 5 of section 59-13-20 provides:

“If the bank or other corporation carries on no business outside this state, the whole of the remainder of net income may be allocated to this state.”

Subsection 6 sets forth the basic allocation formula whereby income from a multi-state corporation is to be allocated to the individual states. In these quotations, the words “net income” are used repeatedly, indicating the intent of the legislature that the franchise tax is to be based on the net income of the corporation and that specialized rules in apportioning or allocating such income where necessary still deal with the same basic concept.

It is not necessary to look outside the statute to find the meaning of “net income.” Section 59-13-6 defines it:

“Net income” means the gross income computed under section 59-13-5, less the deductions allowed by section 59-13-7.”

Gross income is defined in section 59-13-5, with certain items excluded from gross income for purposes of the franchise tax computation. Similarly, section 59-13-7 sets forth specified deductions from gross income in computing net income. Not all expenses of business operations are deductions from gross income as defined in the Utah statutes. In applying these various definition statutes, including particular items of gross income and deducting specific items from gross income, we derive a statutory concept of "net income" which in turn is the basis for the application of the corporate franchise tax and for the allocation of income for corporations doing business in more than one state. Any allocation of income or tax on income is limited to the amount of such income derived pursuant to the statute. Even subsection 8 of section 59-13-20, which gives the Tax Commission power to allocate to the state of Utah income of the taxpayer apart from the general apportionment statute, provides:

"If in the judgment of the Tax Commission the application of the foregoing rules does not allocate to this state a proportion of *net income* fairly and equitably attributable to this state, it may with such information as it may be able to obtain make such allocation as is fairly calculated to assign to this state the portion of income reasonably attributable to the business done within this state and to avoid subjecting the taxpayer to double taxation." (Emphasis added.)

The intent of the legislature is clear: the corporate franchise tax is to be based upon "net income" as

defined in the statute, subject to the minimum taxes and an alternative tax based upon tangible property in the state. Any method of allocation derived by the Commission under its powers in subsection 8 of section 59-13-20 or in its regulations interpreting this section are subject to the overall limitation of net income. To hold otherwise would subject some "gross" income to tax rather than "net" income as required.

Plaintiff's net income after federal income taxes for the calendar year 1962 amounted to \$371,872.20. In accordance with the regulations of the State Tax Commission, plaintiff reported its income in Utah for the year using segregated accounting and after making some allocation assumptions concerning this income, at \$835,793.97. This reported amount exceeds 200 per cent of the total net income of plaintiff for the calendar year 1962. The proposed deficiency assessment by the State Tax Commission assigns net income in the amount of \$1,626,985.92 to business done in Utah, an amount which exceeds four times the total net income reported by the corporation for the year. The effect of the proposed allocation used by the State Tax Commission is to depart from the allocation of net income as defined in the statute, and instead to allocate gross income found in Utah after the deduction of only specified deductions in Utah.

This Court, in the case of *New Park Mining Company v. State Tax Commission*, 113 Utah 410, 196 P.2d 485 (1948), in an attempt to interpret the allowance for depletion, held:

“Mining corporations must deduct federal income and excess profit taxes, before calculating the depletion allowance to which they are entitled in computing their corporate franchise taxes under a statute providing that allowance for depletion shall be one-third of ‘net income’ from property during the taxable year.”

This depletion deduction is authorized specifically in section 59-13-7, Utah Code Annotated 1953, which provides for this deduction for depletion pursuant to rules and regulations prescribed by the State Tax Commission. Regulation No. 12 of the State Tax Commission sets forth the rule for the depletion deduction, and establishes an alternative deduction based on cost or “33 1/3 per cent of the net income of the taxpayer from the property during the taxable year computed without allowance for depletion.” The same regulation later defines net income as follows:

“Net income from the property must be computed by deducting from gross income from the property all deductions allowed by statute in computing taxable net income (excluding the allowance for depletion) to the extent that they are applicable to the property. The requisite deduction shall include overhead and operating expenses, development costs to extent claimed or allowed as a deduction on the return, depreciation, taxes, including federal income taxes, losses sustained, etc.”

It is clear, therefore, that both the Tax Commission and the legislature have decided that the term “net income” as used in certain of the sections of the chapter

dealing with corporate franchise taxes refers to defined "net income"—gross income from items taxable in Utah less specified deductions.

This term has also been defined in many cases in many jurisdictions. The following are typical:

"A tax may be imposed only upon 'net income' which is defined as the gross income of the taxpayer, less the deductions and exemptions allowed by law." *Morley v. Remmel*, 221 S.W. 2d 51; 215 Ark. 434.

"Net income, or earnings, are the products of a business, deducting the expenses only." *Jones & Nimick Mfg. Co. v. Commonwealth*, 69 Pa. 137.

"Net income means profit, and profit is derived, in any business in which capital is lost or depleted, only after the expenses of conducting the business are paid, and return is made of the capital invested which is gone." *Carter v. Phillips*, 212 Pac. 747, 88 Okla. 202 (1923).

"Necessarily, net income for tax purposes is a conception of the income tax statute, and amount arrived at is ascertained by deducting from gross amount of income received by taxpayer from all sources, the specified deductions allowed to it by statute, even though for corporate purposes only, net income may be arrived at by the deduction of entries and accounts not permissible for taxation purposes." *American Can Co. v. Bowers*, 35 F.2d 832 (1929).

"The words 'net income' being used in their common and usual meaning mean the income remaining after the deduction of all charges,

outlay, loss, etc." *People ex rel. Standard Oil Company of New York v. Law*, 200 N.Y.S. 72, 205 App. Div. 531.

"The state legislature in taxing net income cannot exclude as deductions from gross income such items as ordinary and necessary expenses of doing business, including salaries, rentals, interest, losses, and bad debts." *Cook v. Walters Dry Goods Co.*, 206 S.W.2d 742, 212 Ark. 485.

An attempt by the State Tax Commission to tax more than net income of the corporation, as being properly allocable to Utah, violates the commerce clause, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3, of the Federal Constitution. In the case of *Gwin, White & Prince v. Henneford*, 305 U.S. 434, 83 L.Ed. 272, 59 S.Ct. 325 (1938), the United States Supreme Court in interpreting a state tax said:

"The present tax, though nominally local, thus in its practical operation discriminates against interstate commerce, since it imposes upon it, merely because interstate commerce is being done, *the risk of a multiple burden to which local commerce is not exposed.*" (Emphasis added.)

In that case, the court said that the *application* of the statute discriminated against interstate commerce. The same would appear to be true in the case of the Utah Corporation Franchise Tax Act. If the State Tax Commission interprets it in such a way that a company doing business in interstate commerce can be forced to pay a greater tax under that interpretation of the Act

than a corporation doing business solely within the State of Utah, the taxing statute discriminates against interstate commerce. Such a result is obvious in the case in point. If plaintiff were a Utah corporation, it would pay tax only on its total net income. It is inequitable to require plaintiff to pay tax under the Utah Franchise Tax provisions on any amount in excess of net income simply because the corporation is doing business in interstate commerce.

In a Pennsylvania case where the starting point for allocation is net income, not as determined by state statute, but as returned to and ascertained by the federal government, a company had an overall net loss on its federal return, but it had a net gain in Pennsylvania. In denying the Commonwealth the authority to tax gain, the court said:

“We are unable to comprehend how a net loss can be construed as net income. The tax is levied on each dollar of net income, not on each dollar of net loss. If we are correct in this hypothesis, there is no net income as defined . . . to be allocated and apportioned . . . in which event no tax is due for the period involved.”

The court went on to say:

“The Act imposes no tax on a net loss, and when there is a net loss there is no net income to be allocated or apportioned.” *Commonwealth v. Columbia Steel & Shafting Co.*, 83 D & C 326, 62 Dauph 1 (Pa. Common Pleas, 1952).

Where a legislature has intended a different result, the statute has clearly said so. For example, in the

case of *Edward Hines Lumber Co. v. Galloway*, 175 Ore. 524, 154 P.2d 539 (1944), the Oregon Supreme Court said in connection with this question:

“Is it essential that a corporation which does business both within and without this state . . . had a net over-all income before the defendants are authorized to assess against it the corporation excise tax . . . or will it suffice if the corporation’s Oregon business yielded a net income; . . .”

In answering this question, the court said:

“Manifestly, when the legislature wrote our statute, it could have embraced either the proposition submitted by the plaintiffs or the one for which the defendants contend; that is, it could have made the Act provide that no corporation doing business both within and without Oregon should be liable for a tax unless its total operations resulted in a net income; or it could have provided that all corporations should be subject to the tax if their Oregon business yielded a net return regardless of the results achieved in other states. Obviously, one or the other proposition was embraced by the legislature. A choice was necessarily made. In determining which was chosen, we must of course look to the statute. Hence, the first of the two issues calls for nothing more than statutory construction.”

The court then analyzed the statutory provisions and decided that the Oregon tax base was net income from within Oregon. The most pertinent statutory words were found to be:

“The determination of net income shall be based upon the business done within the state.”

The Utah statute does not define net income for Utah franchise tax purposes in the same way that the Oregon statute defined it for Oregon purposes. Rather, our statute clearly indicates that the net income of the taxpayer everywhere is to be assignable to business done within the state, based on a statutory formula, subject to a modification of that statutory formula in unusual cases, but still dealing with "the portion of net income" as a limiting factor.

It follows that the maximum amount of net income that could be allocated to Utah under any formula devised by the State Tax Commission in the event that the statutory formula does not equitably allocate the correct amount of income to Utah, is \$371,873.20, the total net income of plaintiff for the calendar year 1962. Any holding to the contrary is in direct conflict with the terms of the statute, the normal meaning of the term net income, and the requirement of the statute that the taxpayer is not to be subjected to double taxation.

II

PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO USE THE STATUTORY ALLOCATION FORMULA IN CALCULATING THE AMOUNT OF INCOME SUBJECT TO TAX IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

Section 59-13-20 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953 sets forth the procedure to be followed in determining

the net income allocated to the State of Utah. This section begins:

“The portion of *net income* assignable to business done within this state, and which shall be the basis and measure of the tax imposed by this chapter, may be determined by an allocation upon the basis of the following rules: . . .” (Emphasis added.)

Following subsections provide for the specific allocation of certain items such as interest, dividends, and gains from the sale or exchange of a capital asset. Subsection 6 sets forth the allocation formula to be used for taxpayers doing business in more than one state, as follows:

“(6) If the bank or other corporation carries on any business outside this state, the said remainder may be divided into three equal parts:

“(a) Of one third, such portion shall be attributed to business carried on within this state as shall be found by multiplying said third by a fraction whose numerator is the value of the corporation’s tangible property situated within this state and whose denominator is the value of all the corporation’s tangible property wherever situated.

“(b) Of another third, such portion shall be attributed to business carried on within this state as shall be found by multiplying said third by a fraction whose numerator is the total amount expended by the corporation for wages, salaries, commissions or other compensation to its employees and assignable to this state and whose denominator is the total expenditures of the cor

poration for wages, salaries, commissions, or other compensation to all of its employees.

“(c) Of the remaining third, such portion shall be attributed to business carried on within this state as shall be found by multiplying said third by a fraction whose numerator is the amount of the corporation’s gross receipts from business assignable to this state, and whose denominator is the amount of the corporation’s gross receipts from all its business.

“(d) The amount assignable to this state of expenditures of the corporation for wages, salaries, commissions or other compensation to its employees shall be such expenditures for the taxable year as represent the compensation of employees not chiefly situated at, connected with or sent out from, premises for the transaction of business owned or rented by the corporation outside this state.

“(e) The amount of the corporation’s gross receipts from business assignable to this state shall be the amount of its gross receipts for the taxable year from

“(1st) Sales, except those negotiated or effected in behalf of the corporation by agents or agencies chiefly situated at, connected with or sent out from premises for the transaction of business owned or rented by the corporation outside this state, and sales otherwise determined by the tax commission to be attributable to the business conducted on such premises,

“(2nd) Rentals or royalties from property situated, or from the use of patents, within this state.

“(f) The value of the corporation’s tangible

property for the purpose of this section shall be the average value of such property during the taxable year.”

Subsection 8 of this statute provides:

“If in the judgment of the tax commission the application of the foregoing rules does not allocate to this state the proportion of net income fairly and equitably attributable to this state, it may with such information as it may be able to obtain make such allocation as is fairly calculated to assign to this state the portion of net income reasonably attributable to the business done within this state and to avoid subjecting the taxpayer to double taxation.”

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