1965

Western Contracting Corporation, An Iowa Corporation v. State Tax Commission : Brief of Defendant

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

The taxpayer contended that its business was a unitary operation in that its component parts were so closely connected and necessary to each other that the business could not be divided into separate units for state income tax purposes and that therefore the Commission's assessment was improper.

The court after citing the applicable statute and regulations said:

"Our law unquestionably favors the specific accounting by foreign corporations. . . . It has been well said that 'theories of allocation have no place in determining income tax on corporations, if net income within the state can be distinguished from outside business.' *Magnolia Petroleum Co. v. Oklahoma Tax Comm.*, 190 Okla. 172, 121 P. 2d 1008, 1011."

The court continued:

“In the case here the tax commission did not seek to have a formula upheld. It contended that specific accounting should and could be made. It rejected the company’s formula. Consequently the burden was on the company to show that its extra-territorial values were being taxed or affected. It cannot complain unless it can show that the Commission’s method was arbitrary and unreasonable. *Bass, Ratcliff & Gretton, Ltd. v. State Tax Commission*, 266 U.S. 271, 45 S. Ct. 82, 59 L. Ed. 282.

“As has been stated, the formula, upon which the Company based its returns, was applicable to manufacturing. But by no stretch of the imagination could dredging fall into the category of manufacturing.

“The Company maintained that its operations were so unitary that it was impossible, from its books, to account specifically on its Mississippi contracts. Yet, by its books, it had no difficulty in so accounting to the State of Louisiana for its income in that state.

“In bidding on a contract, it was of course necessary for the Company to anticipate and take into consideration all proper expenses and costs in advance in making its bid so that it could insure a profit. If this could be fairly done with reasonable certainty, assuredly the Company could keep up with its receipts and expenses, and reasonably determine, and have reflected in its books, the profit or loss on each particular contract. The auditors of the Tax Commission experienced no insurmountable difficulty in ascertaining from the books of the Company its receipts from each project together with expenses properly chargeable thereto.

“One serious trouble about the manner in which the Company kept its books was that, although a substantial profit was shown on all the contracts wholly or partly performed in Mississippi, yet, by insisting that it had the right to charge to the Mississippi projects an unreasonable amount of the so-called “idle shop account,” it attempted to cancel out a large part of its Mississippi income. Since it had a number of other projects, the Company was not entitled to attribute to its Mississippi contracts an undue proportion of this account.

“The fact that such an over-all return on the Company’s business, so far as federal income is concerned, might be proper or acceptable for that purpose is no reason why it should be applicable insofar as state income is concerned. If the laws or conditions in this state were perhaps more conducive to the earnings of profits than elsewhere, nevertheless this should not have the effect of penalizing this State by taking the income earned here to replenish the Company’s coffers which had been exhausted by loss from profligate or improvident contracts elsewhere.”

There is little or no justification in the record for the facts asserted for the first time by plaintiff on pages 21 to 23 of its brief. As such they are not properly before the court and must be disregarded in the determination of this matter. *Brandley v. Lewis*, 97 Utah 217, 92 P. 2d 338.

In this regard Section 59-13-46, U.C.A. 1953, provides in part:

“Upon the hearing [in the Supreme Court] no new or additional evidence may be introduced,

but the cause shall be heard upon the record before the tax commission as certified by it . . .”

Under a statute very similar to 59-13-46, U.C.A. 1953, this court was faced with an attempt to supplement the factual record in the case of *Ferguson v. Industrial Commission*, 63 Utah 112, 221 Pac. 1099. It was there stated:

“This court has frequently held that in certorari proceedings the record certified up by the tribunal to whom the writ is directed imports absolute verity, and cannot be contradicted or supported by extrinsic evidence.” 63 Utah 112, 114.

However, even if such facts were present and uncontested, the cases of *McWilliams Dredging Co. v. McKeigney*, 227 Miss. 730, 86 So. 2d 672, and *Texas Co. v. Cooper*, 236 La. 380, 107 So. 2d 676, would appear to control.

Plaintiff has cited no cases holding that corporations engaged in the construction business in several states are unitary in nature. The *McWilliams Dredging Co.* case, *supra*, holds they are not. The only justification for adopting the plaintiff's claim that it is a unitary business entitled to use the apportionment formula is if actual net income resulting to plaintiff from its Utah operations cannot be determined.

That plaintiff incurs overhead expense in the overall administration of its business does not convert it into a unitary business. The tax commission has allowed a deduction for a portion of such expense.

The fact remains that the plaintiff actually segregates and separately accounts for its Utah income. It is absolutely necessary to the well-being of plaintiff's business that the separate values and amounts of property, payrolls, sales and income in Utah be kept.

Not only does the plaintiff actually segregate and separately account for its Utah income, but the Utah apportionment formula requires a similar segregation and separation. The formula should not obscure the underlying purpose of the Utah Franchise Tax Act, i.e., to equate the value of the franchise to the net income derived from Utah business operations.

POINT III

THE TAXPAYER IS ENTITLED TO DEDUCT NO MORE THAN THE PORTION OF FEDERAL TAXES PAID WHICH PERTAINS TO INCOME FROM ITS UTAH OPERATIONS AGAINST ITS UTAH INCOME FOR FRANCHISE TAX PURPOSES.

The taxpayer claims that should the Court find the statutory formula inapplicable to its operations so as to require the reporting of gross income from Utah alone, then it should be entitled to a deduction of projected federal taxes which it would have paid had it only reported the Utah income.

It seems perfectly clear that the plaintiff can claim no more deductions than those actually *paid*. Deductions are exemptions from taxation and where taxation is the

rule exemption is the exception. Any statutes purporting to establish exemptions from taxation must be strictly construed against the taxpayer.

The statutes in question provide as follows:

59-13-3. "Every . . . corporation, . . . for the privilege of exercising its corporate franchise or the privilege of doing business in the state, shall annually pay to the state a tax equal to four per cent of its net income for the preceding taxable year computed and allocated to this state in the manner hereinafter provided, . . ."

59-13-5(1). "'Gross income' includes gains, profits and income derived from services, of whatever kind in whatever form paid, or from trades, businesses, commerce or sales, or dealings in property, whether real or personal, growing out of the ownership or use of or interest in such property; also from interest, rent, dividends or securities or the transaction of any business carried on for gain or profit, or gains or profits and income derived from any source whatever."

59-13-7. "In computing net income there shall be allowed as deductions:

"* * *

"Taxes Paid.

"(3) Taxes *paid* or accrued within the taxable year, . . ." (emphasis supplied.)

Thus it appears that to accept the taxpayer's position involves granting a greater deduction than that allowed by the statute.

The tax commission, on the other hand, takes the position that the statutory deduction must be apportioned,

in case of multi-state taxpayers, in accordance with the relationship of income within the State of Utah as compared to income outside the state. The question arises, therefore, as to what deduction exactly the statute does allow.

The commission has promulgated a regulation, No. 13, which was in effect during the period in controversy, which provides in part:

“Allocation of Federal Income Taxes.

“(a) An assignment of a portion of the total allowable federal income tax deduction on the Utah corporation franchise return may be required for certain purposes, such as arriving at:

- (1) Income less ‘related expense’ which is subject to specific allocation under the statute,
- (2) Net income from various properties in depletion computations, and
- (3) Separate accounting determinations of net income when authorized by the Utah State Tax Commission under the provisions of sub-section (8) of section 59-13-20 of the statute.

“(b) In general, the assignment of federal income taxes shall be made only to those segments of net income subject to federal income tax and shall be made on the basis of net income before federal taxes. Due consideration must be given to segments of net income subject to special federal tax treatment, such as domestic and foreign dividends, capital gains, etc.

“(c) Federal income tax assignments are to be made to profit-producing items or divisions only. Each profit-producing item or division must be assigned its proportionate share of the total allowable federal tax deduction based on the ratio that the income of such profit-producing item or division bears to the total of all profit-producing items or divisions. Regardless of the mechanics used, the total of the federal tax assignments made against the profit-producing items or divisions, regardless of where located or whether or not subject to state income or franchise taxes, may not exceed the total corporate federal tax liability for the particular year involved, (in case of an accrual basis taxpayer), or the total amount paid (in the case of a cash basis taxpayer).

The Utah State Tax Commission does not recognize for Utah corporation franchise tax purposes the so-called ‘tax-savings’ resulting from loss items. ‘Red-figure’ allocations of federal income taxes will not be accepted. Loss items or divisions must not be assigned any federal income tax either positive or negative. Loss items or divisions shall be appropriately treated in effective tax rate determinations so as to produce assignments of federal income tax which are consonant with the requirements set forth herein.”

Generally, it has been assumed that an allocable² portion of the federal taxes of a multi-state corporation should be deducted from gross income in order to arrive at usable "net income" under Utah law. See *New Park Mining Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 113 Utah 410, 196 P. 2d 485; *Kennecott Copper Co. v. State Tax Comm.*, 118 Utah 140, 221 P. 2d 857.

To adopt the view advocated by the petitioner or even to allow the entire amount of federal taxes paid by a multi-state taxpayer as a deduction against Utah net income is to overturn the pattern of tax compliance established by the *New Park Mining* and *Kennecott* cases and to promote new controversy and litigation. This should not be done unless the tax commission's position is untenable.

Research has disclosed few cases where this matter has arisen in other jurisdictions under similar statutory provisions.

Under a Kansas statute similar to our own a multi-state corporation was held entitled to deduct from income allocable to that state an applicable portion of taxes paid to the United States. The State Tax Commission had ruled that the taxpayer was entitled to no deduction. Apparently, no claim was made that the taxpayer was

² Only an allocated portion of federal taxes was involved in the *Kennecott Copper* case. See p. 10 of the defendant's brief, which indicates that federal taxes of Kennecott were allocated to Utah, and p. 6 of defendant's reply brief to plaintiff's petition for rehearing, which quotes Commission instructions then in force limiting federal tax deductions to those applicable property in Utah.

entitled to the entire deduction. *Union Pac. R. Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 145 Kan. 715, 68 P. 2d 1.

The deductions allowed to a business which extends into several states may be confined by statutes to those expenses, losses, etc., which are related to income derived from sources within the taxing state, where only such income is subject to tax.

In the case of *Buick Motor Co. v. Milwaukee*, 48 F. 2d 801, affirming 43 F. 2d 385, cert. den., 284 U.S. 655, 52 S. Ct. 34, 76 L. Ed. 556, the taxpayer corporation sold automobiles and parts manufactured by the General Motors Company and was owned by the latter company. The court held the corporation subject to a Wisconsin income tax on the income from sales made through its Wisconsin branch and further approved the practice of the Wisconsin Tax Commission regarding the apportionment of the deduction on account of federal income tax. In this case the General Motors Company and its subsidiaries made a consolidated federal return, but the Wisconsin Tax Commission allowed a deduction from the Wisconsin tax of the proportion of the consolidated federal tax as was attributable to Wisconsin business. The company contended that it should be allowed to deduct the same amount on account of federal income tax as an independent dealer would have been entitled to deduct, but this claim was rejected.

The Kansas income tax of a corporation engaged in an interstate business was computed on the basis of an

allocation to that state of a portion of the corporation's total income, in *Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 145 Kan. 715, 68 P. 2d 1. There, the statute provided for an allocation where a direct allocation was impractical. The court held that the mere fact that the corporation received interest on invested funds which had no taxable situs in Kansas and so were excluded from the total income, a portion of which was allocated to that state, did not make the interest paid by it on mortgages on property in Kansas and elsewhere a related expense, but that an allocable portion of the interest paid was deductible.

The tax commission's position is best justified by the underlying purpose of the Franchise Tax Act. In order that allocation can reach its final aim of *net income* to be assigned to the State of Utah it is first necessary to assign items of deduction to items of gross income and to allocate resulting net income or else to apportion items of deduction separately. This is what the tax commission has done by separately determining income and thereafter apportioning deduction items. The result is *true net income* to Utah which our statutes manifestly intend to tax. To allow *all* federal taxes paid by the petitioner as a deduction is to not allocate or tax *true net income* to the petitioner in this state.

Deductions should be subject to the same geographical limitations as the gross income included. If only income derived from sources within this state is taxable, and this is the rule established by *American Investment*

Co. v. State Tax Commission, 101 Utah 189, 120 P. 2d 331, 337, then only items arising within the state should be allowed as deductions if true net income is to be ascertained. See Altman & Keesling, *Allocation of Income in State Taxation*, p. 177.

This argument is summarized by Altman & Keesling in their book, *Allocation of Income in State Taxation*, p. 186, as follows:

“...[T]he portion of federal income taxes which may be deducted is determined in most states on the basis of net income . . . where net income is used, the net income used is that of the year covered by the federal tax for which deduction is sought. The determination is made by applying to the entire amount of federal taxes on income a fraction, the numerator of which is the net income within the scope of the estate tax and the denominator of which is the net income shown by the federal returns.”

As Tax Commission Regulation No. 13 achieves substantially the same result and as the purpose of the Franchise Tax Act is to tax net income attributable to Utah, it would appear proper to disallow any deduction which would tend to distort reportable true net income. No double taxation results from a refusal to allow a deduction greater than that actually attributable to Utah income.

POINT IV

THE QUESTION OF THE VALIDITY OF THE
AGREEMENT TO FILE ON A COMPLETED
CONTRACT BASIS USING SEGREGATED

ACCOUNTING IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

The question of the validity of the agreement (R. 17-18) between the taxpayer and the tax commission was not raised before the tax commission in the proceeding below.

It has long been the law of this state that legal questions cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See *Salt Lake Investment Co. v. Fox*, 37 Utah 334, 108 Pac. 1132; *In Re Jones Estate*, 99 Utah 373, 104 P. 2d 210; *Radley v. Smith*, 6 Utah 2d 314, 313 P. 2d 465; *Chief Consolidated Mining Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 78 Utah 447, 4 P. 2d 1083.

Thus the question of whether or not this agreement is binding on the plaintiff has no bearing upon the issues presented herein.

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